IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

70,333

HORACE BROWN,

Petitioner, APR 18 1907

CLERIC, SEPREME COURT

THE STATE OF FENORIDA

Deputy Clark

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1351 Northwest 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125

N. JOSEPH DURANT, JR. Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Horace Brown, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal, Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. All references are to the defendant's appendix, paginated separately and identified as "A".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A jury found the defendant guilty of first degree murder and, on the defendant's motion, the trial judge ruled that the death penalty was inapplicable to this case and sentenced the defendant to life imprisonment. The defendant appealed his conviction to the Third District Court of Appeal and the prosecution cross-appealed from the trial court's finding that the death penalty was inapplicable (A. 1). The District Court affirmed the conviction but reversed the life sentence and directed the trial court to submit this case to a properly death - qualified jury for a determination of the penalty to be imposed. In so doing, the Court ruled as follows:

After the jury returned its verdict of guilty as to first-degree murder, the trial court refused to submit the case to the jury for the penalty phase, holding that the death penalty was inapplicable due to the United States Supreme Court's decision in Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982). We agree with the state's contention that this case is not Enmund. controlled by Ιn Enmund, the defendant was convicted of felony-murder. The

United States Supreme Court held that the defendant could not be subjected to the death penalty since he neither took a life, intended to take a life, nor intended that lethal force be used. In the present case, the evidence demonstrates that Brown fully intended the use either deadly force in ordering committing victim. the shooting of the Therefore, the trial court should have submitted this case to the jury for penalty phase of the trial following Brown's conviction for first-degree murder, pursuant to section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1985). (A. 4)

A timely motion for rehearing was denied by the District Court of Appeal on March 4, 1987. Notice of invocation of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal was filed April 2, 1987.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In reversing the defendant's life sentence and in remanding this case to the trial court for the possible imposition of a death penalty, the District Court has in effect pronounced the following rule of law:

Where a defendant has been given a lawful life sentence and it is reversed, a trial court on remand can lawfully increase the sentence to death.

This rule directly conflicts with two decisions from this Court which hold that once a defendant has been sentenced, double jeopardy attaches and a court may not thereafter on remand increase the severity of the sentence.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN FASENMYER V. STATE, 457 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1984) AND TROUPE V. ROWE, 283 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1973).

This Court's jurisdiction to review decisions of District Courts of Appeal because of alleged conflict is invoked by (1) the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced in a district court or Supreme Court decision, or (2) the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involved substantially the same facts as a prior district court or Supreme Court decision.

Nielson v. City of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1960). In the case at bar, the Third District Court of Appeal announced a rule of law which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this Court in Fasenmyer v. State, 457 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1984) and Troupe v. Rowe, 283 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1973). Accordingly, this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision in question is warranted.

In the instant case, a jury found the defendant guilty of first degree murder and the defendant moved the trial court to forego seeking a jury recommendation as to the possible penalty. The trial court agreed and sentenced the defendant to life imprisonment.

In reversing the life sentence and in remanding the cause to be submitted to a death qualified jury to determine if death be the appropriate penalty, the Third District Court of Appeal in effect announced the following rule of law.

When a defendant has been given a lawful life sentence and it is reversed, a trial court on remand can lawfully increase the sentence to death.

This rule of law directly conflicts with the decisions in Fasenmyer v. State, supra, and Troupe v. Rowe, supra, for in each of those decisions this Court held that once a defendant has been lawfully sentenced, double jeopardy attaches and the trial court may not thereafter on remand increase the severity of the sentence.

It is significant to note that the foregoing rule of law has been specifically applied to capital cases by the United States Supreme Court. In Arizona v. Rumsey, 467 U.S. 203, 104 S.Ct. 2305, 81 L.Ed.2d 164 (1984), the Court ruled that where a trial court finds that the circumstances only justify a life sentence, this finding and sentence amounts to an acquittal on the merits of defendant's eligibility for the death sentence, thereby barring the possibility of an enhanced sentence upon resentencing by virtue of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States Constitution. In so ruling, the Supreme Court reasoned as follows:

"Reliance on an error of law, however, does not change the double jeopardy effects of a judgment that amounts to an acquittal on the merits. 'The facts that the acquittal may result from erroneous evidentiary rulings or erroneous interpretations of governing legal principles....affects the accuracy of that determination but it does not alter its essential character.'"

It is also important to note that the opinion in question conflicts with this Court's decision in State v. Carr, 336 So.2d 358 (Fla. 1976). In the case at bar, the trial court took the penalty phase away from the jury upon motion of the defendant. The latter motion constituted a waiver of the jury recommendation by the defendant and therefore, the ensuing life sentence was lawful. As this Court said in Carr:

" We find that the trial judge, upon a finding of a voluntary and intelligent waiver, may in his or her discretion either require an advisory jury recommendation, or may proceed to sentence the defendant without such advisory jury recommendation."

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities cited, petitioner requests this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.