IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,333

HORACE BROWN



Petitioner,

MAY 7 1987

vs.

CLERIC, SUPREME COURTED

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

STEVEN T. SCOTT

Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Ruth Bryan Owen Rohde Building Florida Regional Service Center 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue (Suite 820) Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner was the appellant/cross-appellee below. The respondent was the appellee/cross-appellant below. References to the appendix will be made by the letter "A".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent does not entirely agree with petitioner's version of this case. Consider the following:

Petitioner was charged with first degree murder in the trial court. He was found guilty. At the close of the guilt phase of the trial petitioner moved that the trial judge rule the death penalty inapplicable. That motion was granted, and no penalty phase was ever held. Petitioner was sentenced to life in prison.

Petitioner appealed his conviction to the Third District Court of Appeal. Respondent filed a cross-appeal on the trial judge's failure to celebrate a penalty phase.

The Third District affirmed the conviction and reversed with instructions to conduct a penalty phase. It held that Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982) was inapplicable to the facts of this case, and that the trial court was not justified in cutting off the trial as it did.

Petitioner has moved to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE CONFLICTS WITH ANY DECISIONS OF THIS COURT?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent's position in this case is that under Florida's capital sentencing scheme, a trial court is obligated to conduct a penalty phase. Unless and until that happens any sentence which emerges from the trial is an unlawful, void sentence. Double jeopardy principles do not apply when an appellate court vacates a void sentence and remands for further proceedings designed to produce a valid sentence.

It should also be pointed out that petitioner has not been re-sentenced. For that reason this case is not ripe for review.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISIONS OF THIS COURT.

Capital cases are made up of three stages: the guilt phase, the penalty phase before the jury, and the sentencing hearing. Engle v. State, 438 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1983).

The trial court is <u>required</u> by statute to go on to the penalty and sentencing phases once a conviction has been returned. F.S. §921.141 (1). This is mandatory.

The trial court in this case simply refused to follow the dictates of the capital punishment statute. He determined (incorrectly) that the death penalty was inapplicable and summarily sentenced petitioner to life in prison. No penalty phase was ever held. Petitioner did not even move to waive jury for the penalty phase. This was error, as the Third District held. A valid life sentence in a capital case must follow the celebration of the penalty phase of the trial, not precede it. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (1973).

Petitioner's assertion that Double Jeopardy would preclude the imposition of a death sentence is incorrect.

North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 23 L.Ed.2d 656, 89

S.Ct. 2072 (1969) held that a more severe sentence may be handed down when the trial court is subsequently apprised of new information concerning the defendant's case. That is exactly the purpose of the penalty phase—to inform the court of the appropriateness of the death penalty in light of certain aggravating factors not relevant to the guilt phase. Petitioner's Double Jeopardy argument is not valid. Stroud v. United States, 251 U.S. 15, 64 L.Ed. 103, 40 S.Ct. 50 (1919).

It is the respondent's position that the original life sentence was an illegal sentence because 1) the trial court did not follow the procedure of F.S. 921.141 and 2) there was no legal justification for his departure from that procedure.

Petitioner's reliance upon <u>Fasenmeyer v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1984) and <u>Troupe v. Rowe</u>, 283 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1973) is misplaced. <u>Fasenmeyer</u> concerned the trial court's ability to increase a totally valid sentence after the appellate court has <u>reduced</u> the severity of <u>other</u> criminal convictions.

Respondent would also point out that the "issue" raised here is not yet ripe for review. Petitioner has <u>not</u> been resentenced. It is entirely possible that he will receive a life sentence after his case is remanded. In that case, the

issue will be moot. If he <u>is</u> given the death penalty, his case will come before this Court on direct appeal and he can then argue Double Jeopardy. Does this Court want to hear this case before it is ripe for review?

CONCLUSION

This Court should not invoke its discretionary jurisdiction.